
 
 

Independent Office of Law Enforcement Review and Outreach (IOLERO) 
 COMMUNITY ADVISORY COUNCIL (CAC)  

Public Meeting Agenda 
        March 5, 2025 6:00 p.m.  
     Finley Community Center 

2060 W. College Avenue 
Manzanita Room 

Santa Rosa, CA. 95401 
 
 

ADVISORY NOTICE 
The meetings will be held as an in-person/online hybrid format.  
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC MAY ATTEND THIS MEETING IN PERSON AT THE ADDRESS 
ABOVE, OR MAY JOIN THE MEETING VIRTUALLY THROUGH ZOOM. 
 
Members of the Community Advisors Council will attend the meeting in person, except that 
they may attend virtually via ZOOM, to the extent allowable by the Brown Act for good cause 
pursuant to AB-2449. 
 
Join the meeting via the Zoom application on your computer, tablet or smartphone: 
Go to:  
https://sonomacounty.zoom.us/j/97627799105?pwd=ZLqkuZUlBrbaN7ZyKZTTDtzWtwmB6f.1 
 
    
Please be advised that those participating in the meeting remotely via Zoom do so at their own risk. 
The CAC's public meetings will not be canceled if any technical problems occur during the meeting.  
 
Call-in and listen to the meeting: 

By telephone:  Dial 1-669-900-9128  
Webinar ID: 976 2779 9105  

     Passcode: (IOLERO) 465376 
 

1. Spanish interpretation will be provided via zoom and in-person. Any additional language 
services could be available at all regular and special CAC meetings if made at least 48 hours 
in advance of the meeting to help ensure availability. For more information or to request 
services: contact (707) 565-1477. If you need an accommodation, an alternative format, or 
required another person to assist you while attending this meeting, please contact the CAC 
Community Engagement Manager at (707) 565-1477 or by email cac@sonoma-county.org 
within 72 hours of the meeting to ensure arrangements for accommodation. Spanish 
interpretation will be provided within the Zoom application, you must use version 5.9.0 or later. 

     We will make every effort to accommodate you.  
 

2. Interpretación al español se proveerá vía la aplicación de zoom y en persona. Cualquier 
otro idioma/lenguaje podría ser disponible en todas las reuniones regulares y especiales del 

https://sonomacounty.zoom.us/j/97627799105?pwd=ZLqkuZUlBrbaN7ZyKZTTDtzWtwmB6f.1
mailto:cac@sonoma-county.org


2 
 

CAC si el pedido es 48 horas antes de la reunión para garantizar disponibilidad. Para más 
información o para pedir servicios: llame al (707) 565-1477. Si necesita una adaptación, un 
formato alternativo o requiere que otra persona le ayude mientras asiste a esta reunión, por 
favor contacte ala Gerente de Compromiso Comunitario del CAC al 707-565-1477 o 
notifícanos por correo electrónico cac@sonoma-county.org  en un plazo de 72 horas de la 
reunión para garantizar los arreglos para la adaptación. Para traducción en español, se tiene 
que usar la versión de Zoom 5.9.0 o una versión más adelantada. Haremos el esfuerzo 
posible por proporcionar la adaptación.  
  

Public Comment at Community Advisory Council Meetings 

Members of the public are free to address the CAC. Public comments: 

● Should fall under the subject matter jurisdiction of the CAC (as noted in the founding 
documents). 

● Are time-limited. Time limits are at the discretion of the Chair and may be adjusted to 
accommodate all speakers.   
    

In addition to oral public comment at the meetings, the community is invited to communicate with 
IOLERO staff and CAC members through email. Members of the public who would like to make 
statements that may exceed the time limits for public comment, suggest topics to be placed on future 
agendas, or suggest questions to be raised and discussed by CAC members or staff, may send an 
email addressing these matters to cac@sonoma-county.org 
  
CAC members may not deliberate or take action on items not on the agenda and may only listen and 
respond briefly in limited circumstances. Should CAC members wish to deliberate on an issue raised 
during public comment, that issue may be placed on a future agenda of the CAC for discussion and 
possible action. Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the CAC after distribution of 
the agenda packet are available for public inspection in the IOLERO office at the above address during 
normal business hours or via email.   
 
Purpose. An IOLERO community advisory council is hereby established to increase visibility for the  
public into the delivery by the sheriff-coroner of policing and corrections services, to provide community 
participation in the review and establishment of sheriff coroner policies, procedures, practices, training, 
and initiatives, and to engage the public to better understand the role of IOLERO and of the sheriff-
coroner. 
 
 

Agenda 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL   

 
  
 

2. APPROVAL OF JANUARY 8, 2025 MEETING MINUTES  
 
 

 
3. OPENINGS AND APPOINTMENTS  

Chair will report on current openings and appointments. If you are interested in applying for 
the current vacancies, please visit: https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/boardsandcommissions 

mailto:cac@sonoma-county.org
mailto:cac@sonoma-county.org
https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/boardsandcommissions


3 
 

 
A. Current Vacancy: 

 
● District 2 
● District 4 

 
B. Welcome New CAC At-Large member 

 
• Alberto Botello  
 

 
 

4. ORAL REPORTS AND COMMENTS  
Oral reports and/or comments to be provided. No action will be taken on these items.  

 
a. IOLERO Director’s Report 
b. Sheriff’s Liaison Report 
c. CAC Public Correspondence Report 

 
 

5.  PRESENTATIONS: NONE  
 

 
 

6. BUSINESS ITEMS:    
 

 
a. Discussion and Possible Action on RIPA Ad Hoc Final Report  

 
b. Discussion and Possible Action on Proposed Amendments to the CAC By- 

Laws  
 

 
7. CAC COMMITTEE REPORTS  

Ad Hoc Committee Chairs to provide oral reports and/or updates on the work being 
conducted. No action will be taken on these items.  

 
       A. Community Engagement 

 
B.  Racial and Identity Profiling Act (RIPA) 

 
C.  Policy Recommendations Review (Canine)  

 
D. Recruitment, Hiring and Retention (report on meeting with Sheriff)  

 
E. Community engagement about ICE  

 
 
 

 



4 
 

8. OPEN TIME FOR PUBLIC COMMENT 
This section is intended for non-action items from this agenda and for items not appearing 
on the agenda that are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the CAC. Please state your 
name and who you represent, if applicable. Comments will be limited at the discretion of 
the chairs based on number of comments and other factors. 

 
 

9. REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
  
 

10.  CAC ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 Councilmembers may provide oral announcements on things related to CAC business.  

 
 
 

11.  DISCUSSION OF POSSIBLE TOPICS TO PUBLICIZE IN NEXT NEWSLETTER 
The CAC will discuss possible topics of interest to publicize in the next IOLERO newsletter 
in order to better communicate with the public about the activities of the CAC. The CAC 
may take action to create such material or provide direction to staff to do so.  
 

 

12.  ADJOURNMENT 
The next regular meeting of the Community Advisory Council will be Wednesday April 2, 
2025 at 6:00pm. 

     The in-person/hybrid meeting will be at the following location: 
 

       Location: 
      Finley Community Center 
      2060 W. College Avenue  
                Manzanita Room 
      Santa Rosa, CA. 95401 
 
       
Commitment to Civil Engagement 

All are encouraged to engage in respectful, non-disruptive communication that supports freedom of 
speech and values diversity of opinion. We, the members of the CAC, have adopted a list of norms 
referred to as our “Designed Team Alliance”, which describes the way we want to show-up and be in 
community while modeling collaborative behavior. We request that CAC members, staff, and the 
public follow the CAC’s agreed upon norms, which are: 

 

● Be tough on the topic not on people 
● Respect all participants in the meeting 
● Respect others’ perspective, even when you disagree 
● Respect each other’s time  
● Stay within the meeting’s time and content parameters 



5 
 

● Practice active listening 
● Listen with an open mind to all information, including dissenting points of view 
● Speak to others as you would like to be spoken to 
● Allow others to speak without comment or intrusive sounds 
● Honor freedom of speech 
● Call each other “in” 

 

 



 

 

 

Community Advisory Council Meeting Minutes 
Independent Office of Law Enforcement Review and Outreach 

January 8, 2025 
 
 

  
Members of the public and CAC members attended this meeting in person/online hybrid 

format. January 8, 2025, Community Advisory Council meeting was held hybrid in person 
and via zoom.  

 
PRESENT 
 

Council Members: Nathan Solomon, Imelda Martinez De Montano, John Azevedo, Robin 
Jurs, Nancy Pemberton, Lorena Barrera, Trevor Ward, Casey Jones 

IOLERO Staff: John Alden, IOLERO Director, Lizett Camacho, Community Engagement 
Manager 

Members of the Public:     3 members of the public attended via Zoom. 2 members attended in 
person.   

Sheriff’s Office:           Sheriff’s Liaison, Lt. Brent Kidder  

Absent:  No members were absent  

 

Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order at 6:00p.m. 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. WELCOME AND ROLL CALL      
The meeting was facilitated by CAC Chair Barrera. Council members introduced 
themselves to the public.  

 
2. APPROVAL OF DECEMBER 4, 2024 MEETING MINUTES 

 
A. Motion to approve the amended meeting minutes: Councilmember Jurs 
2nd: Councilmember Solomon 
Vote: 
Ayes: Solomon, Jurs, Azevedo, Pemberton, Azevedo, Barrera, Martinez De Montano 
Abstain: Jones, Ward 
Absent: None 

       Motion carries.  
 

 
 



 

 

3. OPENINGS AND APPOINTMENTS 
Chair will report on current openings and appointments. If you are interested in applying for 
the current vacancies, please visit: https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/boardsandcommissions 

 
A. We continue to have the following vacancies: 
 

• District 2 
• District 4 (CAC member George Valenzuela resigned effective 1/3/25)  
• At-Large 

 
4. ORAL REPORTS AND COMMENTS 

 
a. IOLERO Director’s Report  

 
Director Alden reported on the internal work IOLERO is doing by completing audits. 
IOLERO has been working on helping the CAC Chair and Vice Chair with planning and 
finalizing the details for the CAC Strategic Planning Workshop taking place on February 
22, 2025. One of our Auditors, Garrison Boyd resigned late December due to personal 
issues.  

 
b. Sheriff’s Liaison Report 
 

Lt. Brent Kidder reported back on the following inquiries:  
 

1. Update on sending inmates to Solano County; Lt. Kidder has confirmed that 
100%, the jail (Main Adult Detention Facility) is not sending/housing inmates at 
the Solano County jail. 
 

2. Lt. Kidder reported that the jail (Main Adult Detention Facility) tour and simulator 
invitation is currently for the CAC members only.  
 

3. The Sheriff’s Office is hosting a Spanish Language Community Academy starting 
on February 22. For the first time, the Sonoma County Sheriff’s Office will be 
advertising via a local radio to reach out to as many Spanish speaking 
communities. Applications are due January 31. Participants will learn about police 
ethics, communications, drug enforcement and much more.  

 
4. With the new year, the Sonoma County Sheriff’s Office is pushing out some 

policy updates from our company Lexipol that helps develop and manage our 
policies. There were a number of updates to various policies including a violence 
policy, public alerts, hate crimes, death investigation, and body worn camera 
policies.   

 
5.  Community Engagement events that the Sheriff and the SCSO participated:  

The Salvation Army breakfast, the Sheriff was the keynote speaker at the Police 
Academy graduation, members of the Sheriff’s Office attended the Pozole Night 
Fundraiser for Roseland Elementary School and participated in two different 
parades (the Petaluma Boat Parade and Penngrove Lights Parade).  
The Sheriff met with the Secure Families Collaborative regarding Immigration.  

https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/boardsandcommissions


 

 

The Sheriff is open to having these types of discussion with concerned groups. If 
that is something that any group in the community wants to have.  
 

 
c.  CAC Public Correspondence Report 
        
 Chair Barrera shared that the CAC has been receiving correspondence having to do 

with immigration. The CAC is planning to have a conversation regarding immigration 
during the CAC Strategic Planning Workshop on Saturday February 22, 2025.  

    
 

5. PRESENTATIONS:  NONE 
  

 
6. BUSINESS ITEMS: 

 

     a. Discussion on the Proposed Strategic Planning Workshop Scheduled for 

         Saturday February 22nd, 2025 and the Workshop Agenda/Activities 

During this discussion, the Chair and Vice Chair reviewed the CAC memo 
which included possible policy priorities for the CAC and ad hoc working 
expectations for 2025.  

  Public Comment: 3 members of the public addressed the CAC 

 

      b. Reorganization of CAC Officers  

1. Selection of Chair – Received one nomination for Lorena Barrera.  
Lorena accepted. There were no additional nominations.  

2.  Selection of Vice Chair- Received one nomination for Nancy 
Pemberton. Nancy accepted. There were no additional nominations.  

    Public comment: no public comment.  

 

Motion to select Barrera as Chair and Pemberton as Vice Chair: Councilmember 
Solomon 
2nd: Councilmember Jurs 
Vote:  
Ayes: Azevedo, Jurs, Solomon, Ward, Jones, Barrera, Pemberton, Martinez De 
Montano 
Abstain:  

   Motion carries.  
 

7. ADJOURNMENT FOR AD HOC COMMITTEE WORKING MEETINGS 
Time was 6:56pm. 
 



8. RECONVENE TO REGULAR MEETING
Time was 7:26pm.

9. CAC COMMITTEE REPORTS

Chairs of each ad hoc reported on the work of their committees.

a. Community Engagement: The ad hoc is working on a couple of projects. One project is 
compiling a list of organizations and contacts, and why they would be interested in us 
and what would like from them in terms of community engagement. Another project is 
under the guidance of Rania and Lizett, developing a playbook/guidebook for CAC 
members on community engagement, i.e., what it is, and the different ways to do it. Work 
is in progress.

b. Racial and Identity Profiling Act (RIPA): The ad hoc has been working on their final
RIPA data report. Discussion has been whether the committee wants to have a public
forum to discuss the final report. Ad Hoc Committee Chair Solomon will be reaching out
to the Sheriff for feedback.

c. Policy Recommendations Review (Canine): The ad hoc has lost members, however
Ad hoc Committee Chair Jones and CAC member Jurs remain on the committee. The
ad hoc met last week and discussed developing a new approach regarding this ad hoc
work.

d. Recruitment, Hiring and Retention: There was no report at this meeting.

10. OPEN TIME FOR PUBLIC COMMENT

Public comment:  no member of the public addressed the CAC. 

11. REQUESTS FOR FUTURE ITEMS

1. Immigration

2. Amendment to By-Laws

12. CAC ANNOUNCEMENTS

The CAC Strategic Planning Workshop will take place on Saturday, February 22,  
2025, 10-2p. The location will be at the Rohnert Park Community Center, 5401 Snyder Lane 
in Rohnert Park, CA. 94928. 

13. ADJOURNMENT



 

 

      The meeting was adjourned at 7:34pm. 

The next meeting of the CAC is scheduled for Wednesday February 5, 2025, at 6:00pm 
and will be hybrid (via zoom and in person).   

Location:  
Finley Community Center 
2060 W. College Avenue  
Manzanita Room  
Santa Rosa, CA. 95401 
 
 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 1 

 

 

 

 

RIPA AD HOC – FINAL REPORT 
SONOMA COUNTY COMMUNITY ADVISORY COUNCIL  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 2 

CONTENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ………………………………………………………….…………………………………………………………….. 03  

 KEY FINDINGS ………………………………………………………………………………………………….……………………… 04 

 RECOMMENDATIONS ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 05 

ABOUT THE DATA ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 06 

RACIAL/ETHNIC DISTRIBUTION OF PERSONS STOPPED BY SCSO in 2022 ……………………………………..………. 08 

RACIAL/ETHNIC DIFFERENCES IN REASON FOR CONTACT BY SCSO in 2022 ……………………………………….… 11 

ASSESSING RACIAL DISPARITIES IN CONTACTS WITH SCSO in 2022 ……………………………………………………… 15 

ASSESSING RACIAL DISPARITIES IN THOSE SEARCHED by SCSO in 2022 ………………………………………..……… 19 

ASSESSING RACIAL DISPARITIES IN CONTRABAND HIT RATES by SCSO in 2022 ………………………………….… 22 

FUTURE DATA COLLECTION AND POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS BASED ON DATA ANALYSIS …………..…… 26 

CONCLUSION …………………………………………………….………………………………………………………………………………… 30  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acknowledgments 
We sincerely thank Maskaly Analytics and Research Group for their invaluable contributions to this report. We are particularly 
grateful to Jon Maskály, Ph.D., whose expertise and dedication were instrumental in authoring much of the content and 
conducting the analysis. Dr. Maskály’s work has significantly enhanced the depth and quality of this report, and we sincerely 
appreciate his commitment to advancing equitable and data-informed policing practices. 

We also thank the police agencies and public safety groups who engaged with us throughout this process. Their willingness to 
share insights, experiences, and best practices provided invaluable context and guidance for this report. Their contributions were 
essential in shaping a comprehensive understanding of current practices and opportunities for improvement. 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 3 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Community Advisory Council (CAC) has worked proactively to better understand the community's 
concerns regarding the work of the Sonoma County Sheriff’s Office (SCSO). Through research and 
analysis conducted by the CAC’s RIPA Ad Hoc Committee, this report comprehensively analyzes racial 
and ethnic disparities in traffic and pedestrian stops conducted by the SCSO in 2022.  
The findings in this report are based on data reported by the SCSO under the Racial and Identity Profiling 
Act (RIPA) of 2015, which mandates California law enforcement agencies to collect and submit data on 
stops to monitor and address racial and identity profiling.  

 

KEY FINDINGS 

1. Disparities in Stops 
Most individuals stopped by the SCSO were perceived as White (52.6%), followed by Hispanic/Latino 
(37.2%) and Black/African American (5.7%). While White individuals made up the largest share of stops, 
the data revealed significant disparities for Hispanic/Latino and Black/African American individuals, who 
were stopped at rates disproportionate to their share of the population. 
Traffic violations accounted for most stops (71.5%), disproportionately impacting Hispanic/Latino and 
Black/African American individuals. White individuals, by contrast, were more frequently stopped for 
reasonable suspicion or other non-traffic-related reasons. 
 
2. Search Rates  
Based on their representation in stop data, White individuals were searched at slightly higher rates, 
while Hispanic/Latino individuals were searched less frequently. There were no significant differences in 
the rate of searches among racial and ethnic groups nor the rate of consent being requested or granted. 
This suggests that disparities in search rates reflect broader patterns in stop practices rather than 
targeted bias in search decisions. 
 
3. Contraband Findings 
Contraband was discovered in approximately 9.6% of all stops conducted. Analysis showed no significant 
racial or ethnic differences in contraband hit rates, indicating that the likelihood of finding contraband 
was consistent across groups. 
 
Contraband discovery rates were significantly higher when deputies requested and obtained consent to 
search, suggesting that discretionary searches may rely on contextual factors that enhance their 
effectiveness. 
 
4. Disparity and Relative Disparity Indexes 

The analysis revealed significant racial disparities. Black/African American individuals were 
disproportionately stopped compared to their population share, and Hispanic/Latino individuals were 
overrepresented in traffic stops.  
 
 
 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 4 

5. Data and Reporting Gaps 
The analysis identified significant challenges in the consistency and completeness of RIPA data 
collection. A key concern was the discrepancy between the number of stops reported and the number 
of arrests, suggesting potential gaps in recordkeeping. Additionally, only a small percentage of calls for 
service (CFS) resulted in RIPA records, raising concerns about underreporting and the accuracy of the 
data. These issues highlight the need for more substantial processes to ensure comprehensive and 
reliable data collection, which is critical for meaningful analysis and accountability. 
 
Research conducted by the RIPA Ad Hoc Committee highlighted inconsistencies across jurisdictions in 
how RIPA data is collected, stored, shared, reviewed, analyzed, and used. Factors contributing to these 
inconsistencies include (1) variations in data collection methods, such as the use of different 
applications and software; (2) differences in how data is submitted; (3) variations in agency policies 
governing data practices; and (4) the flexibility allowed under DOJ requirements. These factors can 
result in varying interpretations of the data once collected, further complicating efforts to identify 
trends or ensure accountability. 
 
 
The findings from the 2022 RIPA data analysis underscore the urgent need for action to address 
disparities in law enforcement practices, enhance data integrity, and rebuild trust between the Sonoma 
County Sheriff’s Office and the communities it serves. These insights reveal opportunities for systemic 
improvements beyond compliance, aiming to create a more equitable and transparent approach to 
policing.  
 

 

 

  



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 5 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
The following recommendations provide a roadmap for implementing meaningful changes, informed by 
the findings and grounded in best practices for accountability, transparency, and community 
engagement. 

1. Develop and enforce a RIPA-Specific data collection policy: 
Work with the CAC to implement a comprehensive policy focused on RIPA data collection and reporting. 
Include training and accountability mechanisms to ensure accuracy, consistency, and compliance with 
state requirements. 

2. Strengthen reporting and broaden data analysis: 
Conduct routine audits and cross-reference RIPA records with other applicable data sources (e.g., calls 
for service, arrest data, Body-Worn Camera [BWC] footage, and police reports) to ensure timely and 
accurate submission of stop data. Broaden the scope of analysis to include all relevant data sources, 
enriching efforts to identify and address biased policing. Address discrepancies through improved 
processes, training, and inter-departmental collaboration. 

3. Enhance transparency and commit to data-driven decision-making: 
Take ownership of reviewing and correcting errors in collected data. Invest in tools for real-time access 
and analysis of RIPA and other relevant data to improve quality control and operational transparency. 
Share insights with the community to foster trust and accountability. Use findings to inform equitable 
policy reforms and strengthen community trust. 

 
This analysis is a crucial first step in understanding the SCSO's policing practices and addressing potential 
biases. Further data-driven decision-making and policy reforms are needed to ensure equitable policing 
and improvements in community trust.  
 
Looking ahead, the CAC and this Ad Hoc are optimistic about the SCSO’s efforts to implement positive 
changes around RIPA. By working with the SCSO, we believe we can build stronger partnerships to 
ensure these measures are practical and sustained, helping avoid future issues and enhance the safety 
of the entire Sonoma County community. 

 

  



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 6 

ABOUT THE DATA 
The data used in this report are publicly available through the California Department of Justice’s Open 
Data Portal (available at this link). The data were accessed on November 14, 2024, and reflect the 
available data on that day. The data are in separate tables based on the county where the encounter 
occurred. 
 
The California Department of Justice (DOJ) plays a critical role in overseeing the collection, submission, 
and analysis of RIPA data. The Racial and Identity Profiling Advisory (RIPA) Board, established within the 
DOJ, is tasked with monitoring and addressing racial and identity profiling by law enforcement in 
California. The Board analyzes data collected by law enforcement agencies statewide to identify trends, 
promote transparency, and recommend strategies for equitable policing. 
 
The DOJ has established detailed technical specifications and uniform reporting practices to ensure 
consistency and accountability. Law enforcement agencies must collect specific data for each stop, 
including the date, time, location, perceived demographics of the individual stopped, the reason for the 
stop, actions taken, and the outcome. 
 
The RIPA Board's reports analyze stop data collected by law enforcement agencies across California. Due 
to the significant time required for agencies to submit data, for the Department of Justice to validate 
and analyze it, and for the Board to prepare a comprehensive report, there is an inherent delay between 
data collection and publication. As such, the most recent data available for thorough analysis when 
writing this report was from 2022, released in 2024. This timeline ensures the data is accurate and 
reliable while allowing for meaningful insights and actionable recommendations to address racial and 
identity profiling. 
 
Agencies are required to submit this data electronically using one of three methods: 

● Direct entry via the DOJ’s Stop Data Collection System, 
● Automated submission through integrated agency systems, or 
● Secure file transfers. 
 

While agencies have flexibility in collecting the data – using either electronic or manual methods – the 
submission process must adhere to the DOJ’s strict electronic reporting requirements. This approach 
ensures that data is submitted securely and consistently across jurisdictions. These uniform standards 
are essential to producing reliable data for meaningful analysis and fostering accountability in law 
enforcement practices. 
 
Using the table from Sonoma County, all records for Originating Agency Identifier “CA0490000 (Sonoma 
Sheriff),” “CA0490700 (Sonoma PD),” and “CA0491300 (Windsor Police Department),” as these are the 
unique identifiers for the locations where SCSO provides policing services. The records from these 
agencies were exported to create a working data set. The publicly available data are shown with 
numeric values for the variables. The value labels for all variables were assigned using the data 
dictionary provided by the California Department of Justice (available at the link). 

https://oag.ca.gov/ab953/board/reports


               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 7 

Overall, 5,979 RIPA records reported on 5,630 stops of the public reported by the SCSO during 2022. It is 
important to note that a single RIPA record is generated for each stop, encompassing information on all 
the people subjected to the stop within a single record. The data from the California Department of 
Justice splits from multiple people within the same stop into separate rows of data for easy analysis.  
 
Most stops (n = 5,333, 94.7%) involved only one person, although the number of persons engaged in 
each stop ranged from 1 to 6 persons. 
 
The values for the Agency and the number of persons involved in each stop are presented in Figure 1. 
 

 

Figure 1. Location of Records by Agency and Number of Persons Involved in Stops. 

 

 

 

Number of Records by Agency

Number 
of 
Records

Agency
Sonoma County 
Sheriff's 
Office

4,222 (70.6%)

Windsor Police 
Department

1,036 (17.3%)

Sonoma Police 
Department

721 (12.1%)

Number of Stops by Number of People

Number of People
1

5,333 (94.7%)

2

259 (4.6%)

3

28 (0.5%)

4

8 (0.1%)

6

2 (0.0%)

Number 
of 
Steps



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 8 

RACIAL/ETHNIC DISTRIBUTION OF PERSONS STOPPED BY SCSO in 2022 
In the initial data, eight racial/ethnic groups describe the person who SCSO stopped. The racial/ethnic 
categorization is based on the SCSO personnel’s perception of the person’s race/ethnicity at the time of 
the stop rather than an objective representation of the person’s race/ethnicity.  
 
The California Department of Justice intentionally designed the measure to capture the perceived 
race/ethnicity of the person rather than the objective race/ethnicity, as the perception of the SCSO 
personnel is likely to influence the behavior. Because the California Department of Justice requires a 
response, no records have missing race/ethnicity data. 
 
Figure 2 shows the eight racial/ethnic categories and the number of people identified as belonging to a 
particular racial/ethnic group. The race/ethnicity of the people stopped represents data from the 
RAE_FULL data field, which provides slightly different estimates than if the individual race/ethnicity 
variables are tabulated (e.g., RAE_ASIAN) because persons who are identified as multiracial have 
multiple racial/ethnic identities listed. 
 

 

 Figure 2. Distribution of Race/Ethnicity in 2022 SCSO RIPA Records 

 

Overall, the majority (52.6%) of the people stopped by SCSO in 2022 were racially/ethnically identified 
as White. The next most frequently identified race/ethnicity was Hispanic/Latino (37.2%), followed by 
Black/African American (5.7%), Asian (1.8%), and Middle Eastern/South Asian (1.5%). The remaining 
racial/ethnic groups comprised less than 1% of the reported stops by SCSO personnel in 2022. 
 

Frequency Distribution of Race

Race

White Hispanic/Latino Black / African American Asian Middle Eastern 
/ South 
Asian

Native AmericanPacific IslanderMulti-Racial

Count

3145 (52.6%)

2225 (37.2%)

339 (5.7%)

106 (1.8%) 89 (1.5%) 43 (0.7%) 26 (0.4%) 6 (0.1%)



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 9 

There are two critical considerations for subsequent analyses. One consideration revolves around the 
operationalization of race/ethnicity, and the other is methodological. The operational problem centers 
on the differences between the racial/ethnic categories depicted in the RIPA data compared to the data 
available for benchmarks (i.e., U.S. Census Bureau) used to calculate potential disparities. Specifically, 
the U.S. Census Bureau only reports on data for the following race/ethnicities: 1) Black or African 
American, 2) American Indian or Alaska Native, 3) Asian, 4) Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, 5) 
White, and 6) Another race.  
 
Additionally, the U.S. Census Bureau allows us to determine if a person is of Hispanic/Latino origin and if 
the person identifies as multiracial. This is problematic as not all Census race/ethnicity categories align 
with those reported in RIPA. For instance, people of South Asian descent are categorized as Asian by the 
Census Bureau, whereas those of Middle Eastern descent are typically classified as White. Given the 
combined categorization of South Asian and Middle Eastern, we cannot reliably separate these groups 
into appropriate racial/ethnic groups as distinguished by the Census Bureau.  
 
The methodological consideration centers on the small number of people in some racial/ethnic groups. 
Specifically, relatively few Asian, Middle Eastern/South Asian, Native American, Pacific Islander, and 
Multiracial people are identified in the SCSO stop records. The small numbers of people in these 
racial/ethnic categories present a potential problem with using standard statistical tests (i.e., χ2) that 
require no more than 20% of the cells to have expected counts of less than 5 (see generally: McHugh, 
2013). Our assessment of subsequent analyses suggests that all analyses end up with more than 50% of 
the cells having expected counts of less than 5 when all racial/ethnic groups are included. 
 
There are two potential solutions to this problem. The first is to use more complex statistical tests (e.g., 
Exact Tests or log-linear models). However, alternative methods requiring increased computational 
power can be difficult to reproduce without additional statistical training and are more difficult to 
explain (see generally: Watson, 2014). The second solution is to combine racial/ethnic categories to 
increase the count and reduce the number of cells with low expected counts. While this was a common 
practice in social science research in the past, research suggests that this may be problematic, especially 
for groups that do not have the same experiences with the criminal justice system (see generally: 
Yanow, 2003).  
 
Because we cannot solve these data limitations, we will present the data for all racial/ethnic groups; 
however, we will only highlight and focus on Black or African American, Hispanic/Latino, and White in 
any subsequent tests where statistical significance assessments are made. Further, we will consistently 
highlight that caution should be taken when drawing conclusions based on these groups’ small number 
of observations when presented in any subsequent analysis. The distribution of the reduced 
racial/ethnic groups is presented in Figure 3. 
 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 10 

 

Figure 3. Distribution of Reduced Racial/Ethnic Groups in 2022 SCSO RIPA Records 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Frequency Distribution of Reduced Racial / Ethnic Groups

Race

Count

White

3145 (52.6%)

Hispanic / Latino

2225 (37.2%)

Black / African American

339 (5.7%)

Other Racial / Ethnic 
Group

270 (4.5%)



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 11 

RACIAL/ETHNIC DIFFERENCES IN REASON FOR CONTACT BY SCSO in 2022 
SCSO can report eight possible reasons for stopping a person under the REASON_FOR_STOP variable. 
Only seven of these reasons were selected by SCSO personnel in the 2022 data. The only category not 
used by SCSO in the 2022 records was “Possible conduct under the Education Code.” The categories and 
the number of stops for each are shown in Figure 4.  
 

 

Figure 4. Distribution of Reason for Stop in 2022 SCSO RIPA Records 

 

Most people stopped by SCSO were stopped for traffic violations (71.5%) of all records, followed by 
reasonable suspicion (20.3%), with all other categories seeing less than 3% of the records. Again, 
because of the limited number of reasons for the remaining categories makes it methodologically and 
conceptually challenging to assess what is occurring individually within those categories. As such, we 
combine the remaining categories to give a cleaner presentation of the data and the analyses below.  
In Figure 5, we present the number of persons, using the reduced racial/ethnic groups, who were 
stopped for the reduced reasons described. Subsequent analyses indicate that there is a statistically 
significant relationship between (χ2 = 80.47, df = 4, p < .001) between the reduced racial/ethnic identity 
of the person stopped and the reason for the stop – although the magnitude of the effect is small 
(Cramer’s V = 0.08).  

Frequency Distribution of Reason for Stop
Traffic Violation

4272 (71.5%)

Reasonable suspicion

1215 (20.3%)

Knowledge of outstanding arrest / wanted person

172 (2.9%)

Parole / probation / PRCS 
/

159 (2.7%)

Consensual encounter resulting in search

151 (2.5%)

Investigation to determine whether person was 
truant

8 (0.1%)

Determine whether student violated school policy

2 (0.0%)



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 12 

The data indicates that more persons who are African American or Black and Hispanic/Latino are 
stopped for traffic violations than would be expected given the implied relationships in the data (i.e., the 
relationship expected from the χ2 analysis), and fewer Whites are stopped than expected given the 
distribution. Additionally, fewer Hispanic/Latino persons are stopped for reasonable suspicion than 
would be expected. Finally, more Whites are stopped for other reasons and reasonable suspicion than 
would be expected given the distribution.  
 
In sum, the results indicate that while a person’s reported race/ethnicity has a statistically significant 
effect, the effect is modest. The results suggest that persons of color—notably African Americans or 
Black and Hispanic/Latinos—are overrepresented in vehicle stops and Whites in other types of stops. 
 

 

Figure 5. Simplified Reason for Stop for Reduced Racial/Ethnic Groups for SCSO 2022 RIPA Data 

 

We look deeper into the potential racial/ethnic differences associated with the reason for the stop by 
looking specifically at the reason provided for the most frequent type of stop – traffic stops. The data 
are presented in Figure 6.  
 

Percentage Distribution of Reasons for Stop by Reduced Race / Ethnicity

Reduced Racial / Ethnic Groups

Percentage Reason for the Stop

Other Reason
Reasonable Suspicion
Traffic Violation

Black / African American Hispanic / Latino Other Racial / Ethnic 
Group

White

74.6% (253)

19.2% (65)

6.2% (21)

76.8% (1709)

17.7% (393)

5.5% (123)

81.9% (221)

12.2% (33)

5.9% (16)

66.4% (2089)

23.0% (724)

10.6% (332)



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 13 

Again, we see a statistically significant relationship between the stopped person’s race/ethnicity and the 
reported violation for those stopped for traffic stops (χ2 = 14.54, df = 4, p < .001). The magnitude of the 
effect is relatively modest (Cramer’s V = 0.04).  
 
 

 

Figure 6. Distribution of Traffic Violation Types by Reduced Racial/Ethnic Groups 

 
 
A closer inspection of the data reveals that persons identified as Hispanic/Latino are stopped more 
frequently for equipment violations than would be expected. Conversely, those who are identified as 
African American or Black are stopped more frequently for moving violations than would be expected. 
Finally, Whites are stopped more frequently for non-moving violations than expected. This suggests that 
while there are statistically significant differences, given that the magnitude of the effect is relatively 
small, those differences are rather slight.  
 
In Figure 7, we examine the rate of traffic stops by reason for the stop (i.e., equipment violation, moving 
violation, non-moving violation) that resulted in a particular action (no action, warning, citation, arrest) 
being taken by the SCSO deputy for each of the reduced racial/ethnic groups. The results indicate that 
there are significant differences in some categories. Specifically, persons identified as Hispanic/Latino 
are significantly more likely to receive a citation for equipment violations (χ2 = 10.53, df = 2, p < .01) and 

Percentage Distribution of Traffic Violation Types by Reduced Racial/Ethnic Group

Traffic Violation Type Equipment ViolationMoving ViolationNon-Moving

Reduced Racial / Ethnic Group

Percentage

Black / African 
American

6.7% (17)

62.5% (158)

30.8% (78)

Hispanic / Latino

6.3% (107)

53.6% (916)

40.1% (686)

Other Racial / Ethnic 
Group

3.6% (8)

44.8% (99)

51.6% (114)

White

8.4% (175)

53.9% (1125)

37.8% (789)



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 14 

for moving violations (χ2 = 5.99, df = 2, p < .05) than would be expected by the distribution. Although the 
magnitude of the effect is modest for each (Cramer’s V = 0.08 and 0.05, respectively), the reason for 
these differences is unclear from the data. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Figure 7. Rates of Various Outcomes for Traffic Stops by Reduced Racial/Ethnic for 2022 data 

 

 

 
 

  



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 15 

ASSESSING RACIAL DISPARITIES IN CONTACTS WITH SCSO in 2022 

This report examines racial and ethnic disparities in the stops reported by the Sonoma County Sheriff’s 
Office (SCSO) in 2022. A disparity refers to a measurable difference in outcomes for a racial or ethnic 
group compared to its proportion in the overall population. Importantly, disparities are factual 
observations – they show differences in the data without making assumptions about the reasons behind 
them. 

It’s essential to distinguish between disparity and discrimination. Disparity describes differences in 
outcomes, while discrimination involves intentional or unintentional bias by the individuals or system in 
question. For example, a disparity could show that one group is stopped more often than another, but it 
does not explain why. Discrimination, on the other hand, refers explicitly to unfair treatment based on 
bias. 

With the data available, we cannot assess the motivations or potential biases of SCSO deputies. Instead, 
this report focuses on identifying and analyzing disparities in stop records to understand patterns across 
racial and ethnic groups. Additional data, such as the race or ethnicity of drivers involved in traffic 
crashes or the geographic location of stops, could help refine these analyses. However, this data was not 
provided or available for this study. 

To assess disparities, we use benchmarks – estimates of the population likely to encounter SCSO 
deputies. These benchmarks help contextualize observed outcomes against the demographics of the 
population. This report uses two benchmarks, each with unique strengths and limitations. 

1. Sonoma County Population Benchmark: Based on 2023 estimates from the American Community 
Survey, this benchmark assumes that Sonoma County’s racial and ethnic composition reflects the 
population most likely to interact with SCSO deputies. Given the county’s geographic layout, as 
illustrated in Figure 8, it is reasonable to assume that SCSO deputies may encounter individuals from 
any area within Sonoma County. 

2. Regional Weighted Population Benchmark: This benchmark incorporates population data from 
Sonoma, Mendocino, Lake, Napa, and Marin counties to account for people traveling through 
Sonoma County during daily activities. By proportionally weighting the populations of these five 
counties, it attempts to capture the broader pool of individuals who may interact with SCSO 
deputies. 

These benchmarks provide context for understanding disparities, highlight the inherent challenges in 
estimating the population at risk of stops, and offer complementary perspectives on the potential 
patterns observed in the stop data. 

 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 16 

 

Figure 8. Geographic Areas of Responsibility for SCSO and Other Subunits within Sonoma County 

 

There are two steps to assessing the disparity within the data. The first is calculating a Disparity Index. 
The Disparity Index is calculated using the following formula: 
Disparity Index = Proportion of Stops for GroupiBenchmarked Value of Proportion of Population for 
Groupi. 
 
The values of the Disparity Index will range between 0 and ∞. Values near 1 depict parity in the stops. In 
other words, a Disparity Index value near 1 would mean that approximately the same proportion of 
persons of a particular racial/ethnic group (i.e., Groupi) were stopped by SCSO relative to the 
composition of the benchmarked population. Values less than 1 represent a significant 
underrepresentation of the group relative to their presence in the benchmarked population. Values over 
1 represent an overrepresentation of the racial/ethnic group relative to the benchmarked population. 
For instance, a group with a Disparity Index value of 1.75 would be overrepresented by 1.75 times its 
presence in the benchmarked population. 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 17 

The Relative Disparity Index (RDI) value is the second step in assessing disparity. The RDI is a secondary 
step in the analysis that allows us to see the gap for a particular racial/ethnic group relative to another.  
 
Given the concerns about racial/ethnic bias in the criminal justice system, we use the reference group as 
White. The formula for the RDI is: 
Relative Disparity Index RDI= Disparity Index for GroupiDisparity Index for Whites 
 
The interpretation of the RDI value is substantively like that for Disparity Indexes, except that the 
reference becomes how much more or less Groupi is relative to Whites in the benchmarked population. 
Using both benchmarks, we estimate Disparity Index values for the total stops as well as each type of 
stop (e.g., traffic stops, reasonable suspicion, and others). The nature of these contacts could influence 
how much discretion a deputy has about the person with whom they are interacting (e.g., deputies 
respond to calls for service from the public). The Disparity Index values and Relative Disparity Index 
values are presented in Figure 9. 
 

 

Figure 9. Disparity Index and Relative Disparity Index Estimates for Various Stop Types in 2022 

 

Grouped Bar Chart of Disparity Indexes by Race and 
Category

Grouped Bar Chart of Disparity Indexes by Race and 
Category

Grouped Bar Chart of Relative Disparity Indexes by Race and Category Grouped Bar Chart of Relative Disparity Indexes by Race and 
Category

Using Sonoma County Only 
Benchmark

Disparity 
Index

Race
African American 
or 
Black

Hispanic / 
LatinoOther Racial 
/ Ethnic 
Group

White

Other RecordsTraffic Stops Reasonable SuspicionOther Reasons

3.54

1.23

0.42

0.92

3.70

1.32

0.48

0.85

3.34

1.07

0.25

1.04

2.67

0.83

0.30

1.18

Using Regional Weighted Population 
Estimate

Disparity 
Index

Race
African American 
or BlackHispanic / Latino

Other Racial / Ethnic 
GroupWhite

All Records Reasonable 
Suspicion

Traffic Stops Other Reasons

3.11

1.33

0.38

0.90

3.24

1.43

0.44

0.84

2.93

1.16

0.23

1.02

2.34

0.89

0.28

1.15

Using Sonoma County Only 
Benchmark

Relative 
Disparity 
Index

Other Records Traffic Stops Reasonable SuspicionOther Reasons

3.86

1.34

0.46

4.34

1.55

0.56

3.22

1.03

0.24

2.27

0.70

0.26

Race
African American 
or BlackHispanic / Latino
Other Racial / 
Ethnic Group

Using Regional Weighted Population 
Estimate

Relative 
Disparity 
Index

All Records
Traffic Stops Reasonable SuspicionOther Reasons

Race
African American or 
BlackHispanic / Latino
Other Racial / Ethnic 
Group

3.46

1.48

0.43

3.88

1.71

0.53

2.88

1.14

0.23

2.03

0.78

0.24



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 18 

The top left panel of Figure 9 shows the Disparity Index values using the Sonoma County-only population 
benchmark. The results suggest that persons identified as African American or Black are significantly 
overrepresented in all stop types relative to the proportion of the Sonoma County population. The only 
other racial/ethnic group that shows an overrepresentation in the data are persons identified as 
Hispanic/Latino for traffic stops, although to a substantially lesser extent than for persons identified as 
African American or Black. Whites are consistently represented in approximate numbers to the 
proportion of Whites in the Sonoma County population. Finally, those identified as members of other 
racial/ethnic groups are substantially underrepresented in the data relative to the population 
proportion.  
 
However, caution should be taken when interpreting this finding for two reasons. First, the data 
represents a combination of racial/ethnic groups, and the data may mask significant differences. 
Second, the number of records with a person identified as a member of other racial/ethnic groups is 
relatively small. Thus, the estimated Disparity Index values have potential statistical instability (i.e., the 
numbers could change dramatically with only a few more observations). The data from the top right 
panel show the estimates using the regional weighted population estimates, and the results are 
substantively like those using only the Sonoma County population estimates. 
 
The bottom panels of Figure 9 show the Relative Disparity Index (RDI) values for each racial/ethnic 
group. Again, these estimates indicate the relative disparity between a particular racial/ethnic group and 
Whites. The data suggests that those identified as African American or Black are substantially more likely 
to appear in all types of records produced by SCSO in 2022. Additionally, the data reveal that persons 
who are identified as Hispanic/Latino are similarly overrepresented relative to Whites – although to a 
substantially lesser degree than African Americans or Blacks. The degree of overrepresentation for both 
racial/ethnic groups is largely insensitive to the benchmark that is used. This suggests that estimating 
these groups' magnitude and relative disparity is not sensitive to either of the benchmarks used here. 
 
  



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 19 

ASSESSING RACIAL DISPARITIES IN THOSE SEARCHED by SCSO in 2022 

We assessed the decisions of SCSO deputies to report searching a person or vehicle during the stop. Due 
to the relatively limited number of searches conducted, we cannot segment these analyses by the type 
of encounter with SCSO. Figure 10 shows the percentage of records indicating that a search occurred, 
the percentage of those who were asked for consent, and the percentage of those who gave permission. 
The results suggest that there are statistically significant differences in the rate of searches among the 
racial/ethnic groups (χ2 = 19.19, df = 2, p < .001), and the magnitude of the effect is modest (Cramer’s V 
= 0.06).  

A closer inspection of the data reveals that significantly more persons identified as White are searched 
than expected, given the distribution. In contrast, fewer persons identified as Hispanic/Latino are 
searched than expected. There are no significant differences between those identified as African 
American and those identified as Black. While the differences in the counts, which the statistical test 
assesses, are substantial, the results shown for the search rates in Figure 10 reveal that the rates are 
relatively consistent across racial/ethnic groups. There are no significant differences in the rate of 
persons who were asked for consent by racial/ethnic group (χ2 = 1.05, df = 2, p > .05) nor for the rate of 
consent given (χ2 = 0.40, df = 2, p > .05). 

 

 

Figure 10. Search and Consent Rate by Racial/Ethnic Group in 2022 

 

Out of an abundance of caution, we present the Disparity Index values and Relative Disparity Indexes for 
these same actions by racial/ethnic group in Figure 11.  

Search Rates, Consent Requested, and Consent Given by Race

Percentage

Search Rate Consent Requested of 
those Searched

Consent Given of those 
Searched

Racial / Ethnic Group

Black / African American

Hispanic / Latino
Other Racial / Ethnic Group

White

34.2%

29.4%

23.0%

35.0%

31.0%
32.0%

33.9%

30.2%
28.4% 28.7%

27.4% 27.5%



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 20 

The results from these analyses largely confirm the results shown in Figure 10. Notably, all racial/ethnic 
groups, apart from the other racial/ethnic groups, have about equal representation in the searches 
given the racial/ethnic distribution in the data. In other words, the rate at which people are searched is 
commensurate with the proportion of the race/ethnicity in the stop records.  

Similarly, the RDI values reaffirm this point. However, there is an important nuance to this point. While 
there are no substantial differences in the racial/ethnic groups in the decision to search relative to the 
proportion stopped, there is a considerable overrepresentation of certain racial/ethnic groups in the 
stops relative to the proportion in the population.  

The implication is that while members of each racial/ethnic group have the same likelihood of being 
searched as persons identified as White, some racial/ethnic groups still disproportionately bear the 
burden of searches by SCSO because some groups are overrepresented in the stop data. With the 
current data, we cannot determine whether there are viable explanations for these differences. Still, 
additional data (e.g., officer narratives and locations) could enable further exploration of potential 
explanations. 

 

 

 
 

 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 21 

 

Figure 11. Disparity Indexes and Relative Disparity Indexes for Various Search Metrics by Race/Ethnicity 
in 2022 

 
 

Disparity Index of Searches and Requests for Consent by Race

Disparity 
Index 
Values Race

Black
Hispanic

Other
White

Searched Relative to All Records Of Those Searched, Asked for Consent Of Those Searched, Given Consent to Search

1.06

0.91

0.71

1.08

0.98

1.05
1.00 0.97

1.06

0.98
1.00 1.01

Relative Disparity Indexes of Searches and Requests for Consent by Race

Relative 
Disparity 
Index Race

Black
Hispanic

White

RDI of Searches RDI of those Searched & Asked for Consent RDI of those Searched & Gave Consent

0.98

0.84

0.66

1.00

1.08

1.02
1.05

0.97 1.00



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 22 

ASSESSING RACIAL DISPARITIES IN CONTRABAND HIT RATES by SCSO in 2022 
In this section, we assess “hit rates” of contraband of SCSO deputies as reported in the records. The hit 
rate refers to the proportion of searches that yield contraband. Several hit rates are essential to 
consider. First is the general hit rate, which is the percentage of all records that report discovering 
contraband. As shown in the left set of bars in Figure 12, there is no significant difference in the 
generalized hit rate by racial/ethnic group (χ2 = 0.46, df = 2, p > .05).  
 
Another important finding from these bars is that while it is rare for SCSO deputies to report finding 
contraband in the stop reports, it is not exceptionally rare: reporting finding contraband in one in every 
10 stop reports. And this rate is relatively consistent across racial/ethnic groups.  
 
Similarly, there are no significant differences in the hit rate by race/ethnicity of those who are searched 
(χ2 = 5.74, df = 2, p > .05), nor those who are searched and asked for consent (χ2 = 0.71, df = 2, p > .05), 
nor for those who are searched and consent to the search (χ2 = 0.52, df = 2, p > .05).  
 

 

 

Figure 12. Hit Rates Metrics by Racial/Ethnic Group for 2022 

 

However, Figure 12 provides an important takeaway. While SCSO deputies report finding contraband in 
approximately 9.6% of all stops, this number increases to 27.9% of stops (2.91 times greater). It is still 
higher when they ask for consent and are given permission to search. This suggests that SCSO deputies 

Hit Rates by Race and Metric

Racial / Ethnic Group

Black / African American

Hispanic / Latino
Other Racial / Ethnic Group

I White

Percentage

Hit Rate (General)Hit Rate (Searched)

Hit Rate (Searched & Asked 
Consent)

Hit Rate (Searched & Consent 
Given)

10.6% 10.1%

4.4%

9.7%

30.2%
31.3%

17.7%

26.1%
27.8%

33.0%

14.3%

29.1%
30.3%

32.4%

17.6%

29.4%



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 23 

may be using contextual clues during the stop to serve as the basis for the search. We cannot determine 
whether these factors are objectively reasonable with the current data. 
 
Moreover, we present the Disparity Indexes and RDI values for the hit rates in Figure 13. The data 
indicates marginal differences in the hit rates for contraband by racial/ethnic group. Specifically, we see 
that persons identified as African American or Black and Hispanic/Latino are slightly more likely to be 
reported as having contraband than are Whites – for the general hit rate. However, persons identified as 
White and those identified as Hispanic/Latino have the same Disparity Index value when SCSO deputies 
reported searching the person.  
 
A similar trend is seen when looking at the RDI values at the bottom of Figure 13. Those identified as 
African American or Black are more likely to have SCSO report contraband being found generally, and 
those who are searched are persons identified as White. Whereas the RDI values for those identified as 
Hispanic/Latino show parity with persons identified as White.  
 
We note three things about these analyses. First, we do not discuss the effects of the other racial/ethnic 
groups, although they are presented. Secondly, we do not show the figures for those who were asked 
for consent and gave consent in the Disparity Index or RDI values. This decision is driven by the number 
of persons in these categories becoming so small that a single additional person would substantially 
change the interpretation of the Disparity Index and RDI values. Given the sensitivity of these findings, 
we omit discussing them, though we present them for consistency. We do not split the data into types 
of stops for the same reason. The number of records is relatively small, and each additional factor 
included in the data makes it more challenging to maintain stability in the estimates. 
 
Finally, we present information on the type of contraband that was reportedly seized by SCSO personnel 
in the records. This information is shown in Figure 14. There are differences in the types of contraband 
seized from persons identified as members of racial/ethnic groups. The data would suggest that some 
racial/ethnic groups are reported to have different types of contraband seized because of the stop. It is 
still too early to determine if these results are meaningful, given the small numbers for some 
racial/ethnic groups. Still, they could show the rationale for differences in deputy stops and search 
behaviors. Additional analysis would be required to determine if these results are meaningful 
representations of intended actions (e.g., seeking to disrupt violent crime or drug markets) or pseudo-
random occurrences based on deputies’ decisions. 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 24 

 

Figure 13. Disparity Indexes and RDI Values for Hit Rates in 2022 
 

Hit Rate Disparity Indexes by Race

Race
African American or Black
Hispanic / Latino

Other Racial / Ethnic Group
White

Disparity 
Index

Hil Rate Disparity Index (General) Hit Rate Disparity Index (Searched)

1.10
1.05

0.46

1.00

1.14

1.02

0.45

1.02

RDI Contraband Hit Rates by Race

Race
African American or Black

Hispanic / Latino

Other Racial / Ethnic Group

Relative 
Disparity 
Index

RDI Contraband Hit Rate (Genera!) RDI Contraband Hit Rate (Searched)

1.10

1.04

0.46

1.13

1.01

0.44



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 25 

 

Figure 14. Percentage of Records Indicating Type of Contraband Seized by Racial/Ethnic Group in 2022 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  

Summary Table of Contraband Found
Race Firearm (%)Ammunition 

(%)
Weapon 
(%)

Drugs 
(%)

Alcohol 
(%)

Money 
(%)

Drug Paraphernalia 
(%)

Stolen Property 
(%)

Cellphone 
(%)

Vehicle 
(%)

Contraband (%)

Black / African American 
(n =36)

16.0 8.0 12.0 28.0 4.0 8.0 28.0 0.0 4.0 0.0 20.0

Hispanic / Latino 
(n=224)

6.9 2.8 6.9 44.8 7.6 0.0 24.1 5.5 2.1 0.0 12.4

Other Racial / Ethnic 
Group (n=12)

28.6 0.0 14.3 28.6 0.0 0.0 28.6 0.0 28.6 0.0 28.6

White (n = 304) 3.7 1.8 13.7 49.3 4.6 0.9 26.5 5.0 2.3 0.9 9.1



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 26 

FUTURE DATA COLLECTION AND POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS 
While the results from the analyses in this report are a start toward ensuring that SCSO is providing 
consistent policing services to all members of the Sonoma County community, future reports can be 
enhanced in quality and meaning.  
 
This section provides suggestions for future data collection, analysis, and policy recommendations based 
on its findings. 
 
Ensure Compliance with Reporting Requirements for RIPA 
Given the available public information, there are significant concerns about whether all the SCSO 
activities that should result in a stop report being generated are occurring. Specifically, there are two 
concerns from publicly available data. First, the RIPA records analyzed indicated that only 837 of the 
records were in response to a call for service (CFS). However, publicly available reports indicate that 
there were nearly 30,000 CFS during the fiscal year 2021-2022. Not all CFS will require the generation of 
a stop report. Assuming the number of CFS is consistent for 2022, we expect more than 3% of CFS to 
generate a RIPA record. A report analyzing the Culver City, California RIPA data for 2023 found that 19% 
of records were associated with a CFS. 
 
However, a more direct comparison reveals likely gaps in the generation of stop records. Specifically, we 
see significant inconsistency in the reporting numbers by plotting the number of arrests reported in the 
RIPA data to the number of arrests reported by SCSO. These differences are inconsistent across the 
jurisdictions patrolled by SCSO. We acknowledge that not all arrests are necessarily going to generate a 
stop report record (e.g., a person turning themselves in at the jail). However, the magnitude of the 
differences, presented in Figure 15, reveals problems. At this point, we cannot determine if the issue is 
that deputies are not entering all the stop records appropriately or something else. 
 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 27 

 

Figure 15. Comparing Arrests Reported by SCSO to Arrests Reported in RIPA Records for 2022 

 
 
Ensure Consistency and Quality of Reports 
A related issue that could also explain the differences in the number of arrests reported in the RIPA data 
compared to those reported by SCSO is the quality and consistency of the reported action in the reports. 
There is additional evidence of inconsistencies in the data. For instance, in the 2022 data, SCSO deputies 
reported that 35 persons were taken for a psychiatric hold because of the stop. However, only 16 
(45.7%) of those people were identified as having a mental health disability at the time of the stop. It is 
improbable that SCSO deputies would inappropriately place someone who did not have a mental health 
disability on a psychiatric hold. Instead, the likely explanation for this finding is that SCSO deputies do 
not accurately and consistently report the data on stop forms. 
 
It is unclear who, if anyone, at SCSO looks at and approves the reports before they are submitted to the 
California Department of Justice. This could be a byproduct of the data entry system that SCSO currently 
employs, related to the need for policy revisions, or both. If SCSO deputies submit the RIPA records 
directly to the California Department of Justice, the organization cannot review the data before 
submission. 
 
Other agencies, such as the Bakersfield Police Department (BPD), provide a model for improving data 
quality and accountability. BPD utilizes Veritone, an AI-powered data collection platform developed in 
collaboration with the DOJ, to streamline reporting processes and ensure data accuracy. Officers 

Sonoma County Sheriff's Office

Data Source
RIPA Arrests

SCSO Reported Arrests

Count

Month
JanuaryFebruaryMarchApril May JuneJuly AugustSeptemberOctoberNovemberDecember

134

151

124

155
152

163

138

160

142
151

159 150

62
68

76 79

56

55
46 47 50 51

47

66

Sonoma Police Department

Data Source
RIPA Arrests

SCSO Reported Arrests

Count

Month
JanuaryFebruaryMarchApril May June July AugustSeptemberOctoberNovemberDecember

11

14
13

14 14 14

19
20

3

10
11

17
15

12

14

11

9

13
14

6

Windsor Police Department

Data Source
RIPA Arrests

SCSO Reported Arrests
Count

Month
JanuaryFebruaryMarchApril May

June
July AugustSeptemberOctoberNovemberDecember

41

30

41 39

62

42 42

57

33

41
35

15
11 12

8

27

17 17

23

15 14
11 12

Total Arrests

Data Source
RIPA Arrests
SCSO Reported Arrests

Count

Month
JanuaryFebruaryMarchApril May June July AugustSeptemberOctoberNovemberDecember

186
195

178

202

228

210
195

225

189

211 209 211

80
89

99 104 108

84
77

81
74 78

72
84



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 28 

complete RIPA reports directly on mobile devices, and administrative staff review and correct each 
report before submission to the DOJ. Additionally, BPD conducts periodic audits by cross-referencing 
CAD records with submitted RIPA reports to identify and address any gaps in reporting. These practices 
demonstrate how proactive measures can enhance the reliability and consistency of RIPA data. 
Assuming SCSO seeks to be transparent and accountable to its community and use the data to make 
operational and organizational decisions, it should ensure that the data is a complete and accurate 
representation of the interaction between SCSO and the community. The messier and noisier the data 
is, the more difficult it is for the organization to make changes to improve the quality of the police 
services provided. 
 
To address these inconsistencies, periodic audits of RIPA data should be conducted to ensure accuracy 
and completeness. Validating RIPA data against other sources, such as police reports or body-worn 
camera footage, could help identify and resolve discrepancies. Leveraging new technologies to 
automate parts of this validation process could further improve efficiency and reliability, reducing the 
burden on staff while enhancing the data quality. 
 
 
Ensure Consistent Analysis of the Data 
It is unclear if SCSO is using the RIPA data, which it is mandated to collect and report to the California 
Department of Justice for its purposes. A great deal of effort goes into collecting the required data, and 
the organization is well-positioned to use that data to look for patterns and trends, make operational 
and organizational changes, and improve the law enforcement services provided to the community. 
However, we can find no publicly available evidence that the organization is analyzing this data.  
 
Given the other challenges identified with the data, SCSO may be unable to access its data without 
requesting it directly from the California Department of Justice. This is likely because the organization 
uses a direct submission system for the stop records. Suppose the organization wants to improve the 
data quality and capitalize on its use. In that case, it must be able to access that data in semi-real time.  
 
Many vendors provide services to collect data from line-level staff, allowing it to be reviewed, returned 
for corrections, and accessed more easily by the organization in near real-time. Investing in this sort of 
solution, or using the current system’s capabilities if available, would go a long way to assisting. 
Additionally, having access to cleaner data in a timelier fashion would allow the organization to begin 
analyzing the data at intervals of its choosing to ensure the data reflects the direction the organization is 
trying to move. 
 
To fully leverage the collected data, the SCSO must adopt targeted strategies to address these 
challenges. By implementing the following measures, the agency can ensure that the data is accurate, 
accessible, and actionable, laying the foundation for meaningful operational improvements and stronger 
community trust. 
 



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 29 

Automate Data Entry: SCSO should continue leveraging the CAD system to auto-populate RIPA data, 
minimizing manual errors and improving reporting efficiency. This approach would streamline data 
collection while ensuring accurate submission to the DOJ. 
 
Retain Submitted Data: To strengthen internal analysis, SCSO should retain a copy of all submitted RIPA 
data. Maintaining this information would allow the agency to independently assess policing trends and 
identify potential areas for improvement within the community. 
 
Invest in Data Analysis Expertise: SCSO should hire a dedicated data analyst to collaborate with policy 
staff. This role would help integrate data insights into policy creation and ensure effective monitoring of 
policy implementation. A data analyst could also support periodic audits to validate data accuracy and 
consistency, fostering greater transparency and accountability. 
 
 
Ensure Adequate Policy, Training, and Accountability 
Lastly, we highlight the potential need for training and policy modification. A review of the SCSO Policy 
Manual, available publicly online, does not address the requirements for RIPA. While there could be a 
policy that is not publicly available, it seems unlikely, given the comprehensive nature of the Policy 
Manual that is available. Instead, the organization needs to develop a policy, train staff, and then 
appropriately and consistently hold deputies accountable for deviating from it.  
 
As enacted in California Government Code 12525.5, the RIPA regulation states that law enforcement 
organizations must collect this data. As such, beyond the good practice of analyzing the data for the sake 
of the relationship with the community, the organization could potentially be in jeopardy of violating the 
RIPA requirements if the deputies do not report the required information. The best way to gain 
compliance is by developing policies that clearly define everyone’s obligations and articulate the 
rationale, training deputies for proficiency, and appropriately holding them to account for deviating 
from the organization’s expectations. 
 
RIPA data collection also provides an invaluable opportunity to address disparities in policing by offering 
evidence of potential biases tied to racial and identity profiling practices. Beyond compliance, SCSO 
should view this process as a chance to demonstrate full transparency to the community. By openly 
sharing findings and conducting self-analysis of policies and practices, the agency can foster trust while 
identifying and addressing areas for improvement. Transparency supports accountability and 
strengthens the relationship between law enforcement and the communities they serve. 
 

 
 

  



               CAC RIPA Ad Hoc . Final Report . January 2025 . 30 

CONCLUSION 
This report represents a critical step toward understanding and addressing racial and ethnic disparities 
in law enforcement practices by the Sonoma County Sheriff’s Office. By analyzing the 2022 RIPA data, 
the CAC’s RIPA Ad Hoc has highlighted areas of concern and opportunities for systemic improvement. 
The recommendations outlined in this report emphasize the importance of data integrity, transparency, 
and accountability in fostering equitable policing practices. 
 
Implementing these measures requires collaboration between the SCSO, the community, and oversight 
bodies. The insights gained from this analysis should guide policy changes and serve as a foundation for 
rebuilding trust and ensuring fair treatment for all members of the Sonoma County community. As we 
progress, sustained efforts and ongoing assessments will be essential in creating a safer, more inclusive 
environment for everyone. 



 

Page 1 of 10 
 

 

 
 

Independent Office of Law Enforcement Review and 
Outreach Community Advisory Council Bylaws 

Adopted June 5, 2023 
 
Article I. Name 

 
The name of this Advisory Body is the Independent Office of Law Enforcement 

Review and Outreach (“IOLERO”) Community Advisory Council, hereafter referred 

to as the "CAC." 

 
 

Article II. Purpose 
 

The CAC is established to increase visibility for the public into the delivery by the 

sheriff-coroner of policing and corrections services, to provide community 

participation in the review and establishment of sheriff-coroner policies, procedures, 

practices, training, and initiatives, and to engage the public to better understand the 

role of IOLERO and of the sheriff-coroner.  

 

Measure P, (passed in November 2020 by the voters of Sonoma County) repealed 

and replaced Sonoma County Code, Title 2, Article XXVII to expand the role and 

independence of the CAC and authorize the Board of Supervisors and IOLERO 

Director to appoint members to the CAC. 

 

Sonoma County Board of Supervisors’ Ordinance Number 6174 (adopted 

September 13, 2016) and subsequent amendments provide governing direction to 

the CAC. 

 
Following the guidelines of the Creating Ordinance No. 6174, the CAC will continue 

to reflect and address the expressed needs of the community. It is the intent of the 

CAC to retain flexibility in the conduct of its affairs. 

 



 

Page 2 of 10 
 

 

Article III. Organization 
 
Section 1. Community Advisory Council Membership 
The CAC shall consist of eleven (11) members. Each supervisor shall appoint two 

(2) CAC Members and the IOLERO director shall appoint one (1) Member-at-Large.  

 

A. Terms 
All appointments shall be for two years. There is no limit to the number of 

terms for which a CAC Member may be reappointed. 

 

B. Composition 
The CAC shall reflect and represent the diversity and demographics of the 
County by way of, including but not limited to, racial, ethnic, cultural, gender, 
socio-economic, and geographic diversity; and who are representative of the 
community and of community stakeholders of the law enforcement oversight 
process, and who reside within the County of Sonoma.   
 

C. Qualifications 

Members of the CAC must not have been employed by any law enforcement 
agency for three years prior to appointment. Members should have a demonstrated 
history of involvement in and engagement with community organizations that work 
in one or more of the following areas:  

i. Serving or empowering disadvantaged communities;  
ii. Protecting and defending the constitutional rights of individuals; 
iii. Issues concerning the effectiveness or fairness of the criminal justice 

system; 
iv. Serving or empowering members of communities that experience 

behavioral or mental health challenges; and/or  
v. Spiritual, faith or religious institutions. 

Members of the CAC should have a demonstrated ability to engage in mature, 
objective decision making. CAC Members should have a demonstrated 
commitment to transparency and objective decision making and should have a 
demonstrated commitment to and support for civilian oversight of law enforcement. 
Members of the CAC should also have residency within the County of Sonoma and 
must be members of the National Association for Civilian Oversight of Law 
Enforcement (NACOLE).  

 

D. Compensation 
Members of the CAC shall serve without compensation but may, with prior 
approval, be reimbursed for authorized, reasonable, and necessary expenses 
incurred in the performance of their official duties, should funding become 
available for this purpose. 

 

E. Resignation 
The resignation of a CAC Member shall be in writing to the appointing Supervisor 



 

Page 3 of 10 
 

(if applicable) the IOLERO Director, the Chair of the CAC, and staff.  Resignation 

letters shall be submitted at least three (3) months before the effective date of 

resignation, to the extent possible. 

 

F. Removal from The Community Advisory Council 
CAC Members serve at the pleasure of the appointing Supervisor. The CAC 

Member-at-Large serves at the pleasure of the IOLERO Director. The failure of 

any CAC Member to fulfill the duties designated herein will be brought to the 

attention of the appointing Supervisor and the Director by a CACn Officer and/or 

IOLERO staff. 

 
 

Section 2. Community Advisory Council Member Role and Duties 
CAC Members are expected to fulfill the role and carry out the duties as described below: 

 
A. Attendance at Regular (Monthly) Community Advisory Council  Meetings 

Attendance at Regular CAC meetings is essential, since a Quorum (as defined in 

Article IV, Section 4) is required to conduct CAC business. Therefore, CAC 

Members are expected to attend at least three-fourths (3/4) of the Regular CAC 

meetings held during any twelve (12) month period. 

 

The CAC members must attend meetings in person or as allowed by the State of 

California. 

 

Participation in meetings not in person shall constitute attendance and presence 

as though in person at the meeting. Quorum shall be established by either roll call 

or identification of individual members of the CAC. These meetings shall only be 

held as authorized by the State of California.  

 

CAC Members absent from a Regular CAC meeting on official CAC business 

(official CAC business must be approved by Officers) will not be counted as 

having missed a meeting. Instead, any absence due to representation of the CAC 

at another event that is approved by all Officers is of the same value as being 

present at a Regular CAC meeting. 

 

However, if it is necessary to miss a Regular CAC meeting, CAC Members are 

expected to give an Officer and/or staff prior notice. 

 
Staff will provide a report on attendance at Regular CAC meetings. 
The three-fourths requirement is deemed to be met by attending nine (9) of twelve 

consecutive Regular CAC meetings. 

 



 

Page 4 of 10 
 

B. Conduct 

 

1. Standards and Guidelines 
At CAC meetings, events and activities, as well as when representing the CAC 

in any official capacity, CAC Members shall adhere to generally acceptable 

standards of business conduct and to any specific guidelines/protocols 

adopted by the CAC. They shall not engage in: 

 

a. habitual conduct which disrupts the CAC and/or interferes with 
the conduct of CAC business, or 

b. conduct which would have a negative impact on the integrity of and/or 
the community’s confidence in the CAC. 

 
2. Ethics 

The members of the CAC shall adhere to the most current NACOLE Code of 

Ethics standards in the conduct of their duties. Using those standards, CAC 

Members shall: 

 

a. comply with both the letter and the spirit of the laws and policies affecting 
operations of the CAC; 

b. be independent, impartial and fair in their judgment and actions; and 
c. conduct public deliberations and processes openly, unless 

legally confidential, and in an atmosphere of mutual respect 
and civility. 

 
3. Conflicts of Interest 

In order to assure their independence and impartiality on behalf of the public 

good, CAC Members are prohibited from using their official positions to 

influence decisions in which they have a financial interest, or an organizational 

responsibility, or where they have a personal relationship that would constitute 

a conflict of interest. 

 

CAC Members should avoid taking any action that could be construed as, or 

create the appearance of, using public office for personal gain, including use 

of the title of CAC Member and/or CAC stationery or other County resources 

to obtain or promote personal interests and/or business through any means, 

including personal social media accounts. 

 

4. Representation of the CAC 
CAC Members are encouraged to represent themselves as individual CAC 

Members in community advocacy and activities related to the adopted 

positions and Work Plan of the CAC, and are not to work to undermine the 

adopted positions and Work Plan of the CAC while serving as Members. 

However, they are not authorized to represent, speak or act on behalf of the 



 

Page 5 of 10 
 

CAC as a whole through any means, including through personal social media 

accounts unless so authorized by the CAC. Members of the CAC should add 

an opinion disclaimer to their personal accounts in order to establish 

clarification that opinions shared on social media are not representative of the 

CAC.  

 

C. Communication with Appointing Supervisor 
Each CAC Member acts as a liaison between the CAC and his/her appointing 
Supervisor, and thus is expected to communicate regularly with his/her appointing 
Supervisor about the CAC’s activities. 

 
D. Contribution to the Work of the Council 

In addition to the other responsibilities stated in this Section, each CAC Member is 
expected to support the CAC’s goals and activities by serving as an Officer, Liaison 
and/or as Chair of a committee, or by serving as an active member of an Ad Hoc 
or a Standing Committee. 

 

E. Leaves of Absence 
If a Member is unable to fulfill the designated duties due to unusual circumstances, 

s/he can request a leave of absence from the CAC. Leaves of absence are granted 

at the recommendation of the Chair and with approval of the appointing Supervisor 

(or the IOLERO Director for Member-at-Large) and shall not exceed two (2) months. 

 
 

Section 3. Governance 
 

A. Officers 
The Officers of the CAC shall be a Chair and a Vice-Chair. The duties of these 

Officers shall be those which generally apply to such officers, stated herein, 

and/or designated by the CAC. 

 

B. Term 
The term of Officers and appointments shall be for one (1) calendar year from the 

January 1st through December 30thdate of election through the date of the next 

election. 

 

C. Qualifications for Officers 
 

1. Chair 
To serve as the Chair, a Member shall: 

 
a. have attended at least four (4) CAC meetings within six (6) months 

prior to nomination. 
b. be an able and willing communicator. 
c. express the intention to attend and lead at least ten (10) of the 



 

Page 6 of 10 
 

Regular CAC meetings during the one-year term. 
 

2. Vice-Chair 
To serve as the Vice-Chair, a Member shall: 

 
a. have attended at least four (4) CAC meetings within six (6) months 

prior to nomination. 
b. be an able and willing communicator. 
c. have expressed a willingness to support the Chair and to fulfill the 

other duties assigned. 
 

D. Powers and Duties of Officers 
 

1. Chair 
The duties of the Chair are listed below. 

 
a. Duties for Community Advisory Council Meetings.  

At CAC  meetings, the Chair shall: 
1. preside over CAC meetings, maintain orderly procedure in 

accordance with these Bylaws, and decide questions of 
procedure subject to the full CAC. 

2. develop the agenda for CAC meetings with the assistance of 
other CAC Members, Officers and staff. 

3. be allowed to participate in discussion relating to any matter 
s/he deems appropriate. 

4. recognize any member of the CAC who desires to speak. 
5. set and adhere to time-limits for any member of the public who 

desires to address the CAC, consistent with the requirements of 
the Brown Act. 

6. rule on all procedural matters or questions not specifically 
addressed in these Bylaws, subject to the approval of the full 
CAC. 

7. work with Officers and Staff to produce minutes of the meetings. 
 

b. Duties Related to Community Advisory Council Operations.  
The Chair shall: 

1. serve as a primary liaison to the IOLERO Director. 
2. serve as an ex-officio member and remain cognizant of 

the activities and progress of all committees, if any. 
3. participate, together with the other Officers and Staff, in creating 

and monitoring the progress of the CAC’s work activities to 
ensure that CAC goals are met and periodically make a progress 
report to the CAC. 

4. serve as a resource to Members in their efforts to contribute to 
the CAC’s work and, when required, collaborate with other 
Officers and staff to resolve issues related to a CAC Member’s 
fulfillment of designated duties. 

5. represent and speak on behalf of the CAC at public meetings 



 

Page 7 of 10 
 

(e.g. Board of Supervisors meeting) on matters relating to the 
CAC. 

6. Create and sustain amicable and effective relationships 
with County and community leaders/organizations. 

7. Advocate for CAC initiatives throughout the County 
approval process.  

8. Remain cognizant of Brown Act requirements, both during 
meetings and throughout the month; monitor and 
intervene as needed. 

 
2. Vice-Chair 

The Vice-Chair shall: 
a. preside over CAC meetings in the Chair’s absence. 
b. assist the Chair in developing the agenda for CAC meetings. 
c. participate, together with the other Officers and staff, in 

monitoring the progress of the CAC work activities to ensure that 
CAC goals are met. 

d. serve as a resource to CAC Members in their efforts to contribute 
to the CAC’s work and, when required, collaborate with other 
Officers and staff to resolve issues related to a CAC Member’s 
fulfillment of designated duties. 

e. fill a vacancy occurring in the office of Chair for the unexpired term. 
 

E. Nominations and Elections 
At a Regular CAC meeting prior to the end of the term for current Officers, the 

Chair will read the duties and qualifications of Chair from the By-Laws, and 

nominations will be taken from the floor. Any qualified CAC Member is eligible to 

be nominated (or to nominate him/herself).  

 

The same process shall then be followed for taking Vice-Chair nominations.  

Elections can be held following the close of nominations, and Officers shall be 

elected by a simple majority vote. If a CAC Member is unable to attend the CAC 

meeting, s/he can be nominated and elected, based on prior verbal/written 

statement that if elected s/he will accept the position and fulfill the duties of the 

office. 

 

F. Vacancies of Elected Office 
 

1. Chair 
Should the office of Chair become vacant during term, the Vice-Chair 

shall assume the office of Chair for the remainder of the term. 

 

2. Vice-Chair 
Should the office of Vice-Chair become vacant during a term, the CAC shall 

elect a new Vice-chair at its next regular meeting after the vacancy is 



 

Page 8 of 10 
 

announced at a public meeting of the CAC. 

 

3. Removal From Office  

An Officer may be removed from office prior to the expiration of his/her term 

by vote of the CAC. 

 

Section 4. Staff 
The CAC shall receive support from management and clerical staff as assigned by the 
Director of IOLERO. 

 
 

Article IV. Meetings 

Section 1. Regular Community Advisory Council Meetings 
 

A. Schedule 

Regular CAC meetings shall be scheduled for the first (1st) Wednesday of each 
month at 6:00 PM, except as noted in Article IV, Section 1 (E). The time and date 
will only be changed by the CAC for the purpose of facilitating the conduct of CAC 
business, and if changed, the date and time will be announced to the CAC and 
the public with at least thirty (30) days’ notice. 
 
Should the meeting fall on a holiday or County closure day, the meeting will be 
held on the Monday Wednesday of the following week (subject to availability), 
unless the CAC makes other arrangements. This meeting shall be announced 
with at least thirty (30) days prior notice, when possible. 

 

B. Location 
Staff will be responsible for securing a facility deemed appropriate for the Regular 

CAC meetings. Once selected, the location will be announced to the CAC and the 

public. 

 

C. Ralph M. Brown Act 
All Regular CAC meetings shall be called, noticed, held and conducted in 
accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Act, hereafter referred to as the "Brown Act." 
Pursuant with Section 54954.3 of the Brown Act, the agendas for Regular CAC 
meetings shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the 
CAC on items of interest to the public that are within the subject matter jurisdiction 
of the CAC . 

 

D. Agenda 
 

1. Submission of Items 
Staff or any CAC Member may place an item on the agenda, subject to time 
limitations on CAC meetings and to the discretion of the Chair. Proposed 
agenda items should be submitted directly to staff of the Independent Office 
of Law Enforcement Review and Outreach at least two weeks prior to the 



 

Page 9 of 10 
 

Commission CAC meeting. Any member of the public may suggest an item 
for consideration on a future agenda during public comment at CAC 
meetings. 

 

2. Preparation and Content 
The Chair will work through staff with Officers, and other CAC Members to 

prepare the agenda for CAC meetings. The agenda will contain a brief 

general description of each item of business to be transacted or discussed 

at the meeting. 

 

3. Distribution and Posting 
At least seventy-two (72) hours before the Regular CAC meeting, the 
agenda will be distributed to the CAC Members and posted at a location 
that is freely accessible to the public, as well as on the internet site for 
IOLERO. 

 

4. Additions after Posting 
No action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda, 

except as permitted by Government Code 54954.2 of the Brown Act. 

 

E. Cancellation of a Regular Meeting 
A Regular CAC meeting can be cancelled by the vote or concensus of the CAC or 

the agreement of the two (2) Officers. 

 
 

Section 2. Special Community Advisory Council Meetings 
 

A. Call for Special Meeting 
Special meetings may be called by the two Officers or the written agreement of 

the majority of active CAC Members (i.e. CAC Members not on a Leave of 

Absence, as defined in Article III, Section 2(E)). 

 

B. Purpose 
The purpose of the special meeting shall be stated in the call. 

 
C. Notice 

Except in cases of emergency, at least twenty-four (24) hour notice, and such other 

notice as directed by the Brown Act, shall be given prior to any special meeting. 

 

D. Agenda 
The agenda for a special meeting shall be limited to the specific issue(s) for which 
the meeting was called and will contain a brief general description of the business 
to be transacted and/or discussed at the meeting. 

 

E. Conduct of Meeting 
The meeting shall be held and conducted in accordance with the Brown Act. 



 

Page 10 of 10 
 

 
 

Section 3. Rules of Order 
Meetings of the CAC  shall be conducted in accordance with fair and orderly procedures 

such as those described in Robert’s Rules of Order and/or Roberta’s Rules of Order, 

latest edition, except as required by state law or as provided by these Bylaws. 

 

Section 4. Quorum 
A majority of the duly appointed active CAC Members shall constitute a Quorum. CAC 

action may be taken only by a majority vote of the active Members. 

 

Article V: Structure for Supporting CAC’s Goals and 
Activities 
 
Section 1. Liaisons 
Liaisons act as intermediaries with other organizations/agencies. Liaisons are responsible 
for determining how to carry out their assignment. They may solicit other CAC Members 
(totaling less than a quorum) and/or community members, and/or staff to assist them as 
necessary. 
 
Liaisons are responsible for reporting to the CAC on their activities and their progress 
toward meeting the goals/objectives established. 

 

Section 2. Ad Hoc Committees 
Ad Hoc Committees may be established to carry out a specific objective or activity within 
a stated time frame.  They may solicit other CAC Members (totaling less than a quorum) 
and/or community members, and/or staff to assist them as necessary.  Ad hoc committee 
members must appoint a Chair at the outset of the Committee’s creation. 
 

 
Ad Hoc Committees are disbanded once the specific objective has been accomplished. 

 

Section 3. Standing Committees 
Standing Committees may be established to assume responsibility for the CAC’s ongoing 
work in a general topic area. Standing Committees are created by the CAC and remain 
active over an extended period. Regular meetings will be held according to regular dates, 
times and locations. Standing Committee meetings are subject to the requirements of the 
Brown Act. 

 
 

Article VI: Amendments. 
 

Proposed amendments to these Bylaws shall be submitted to the Officers and then 

brought to the CAC for discussion and approval. 



 

Page 1 of 10 
 

 

 
 

Independent Office of Law Enforcement Review and 
Outreach Community Advisory Council Bylaws 

Adopted June 5, 2023 
 
Article I. Name 

 
The name of this Advisory Body is the Independent Office of Law Enforcement 

Review and Outreach (“IOLERO”) Community Advisory Council, hereafter referred 

to as the "CAC." 

 
 

Article II. Purpose 
 

The CAC is established to increase visibility for the public into the delivery by the 

sheriff-coroner of policing and corrections services, to provide community 

participation in the review and establishment of sheriff-coroner policies, procedures, 

practices, training, and initiatives, and to engage the public to better understand the 

role of IOLERO and of the sheriff-coroner.  

 

Measure P, (passed in November 2020 by the voters of Sonoma County) repealed 

and replaced Sonoma County Code, Title 2, Article XXVII to expand the role and 

independence of the CAC and authorize the Board of Supervisors and IOLERO 

Director to appoint members to the CAC. 

 

Sonoma County Board of Supervisors’ Ordinance Number 6174 (adopted 

September 13, 2016) and subsequent amendments provide governing direction to 

the CAC. 

 
Following the guidelines of the Creating Ordinance No. 6174, the CAC will continue 

to reflect and address the expressed needs of the community. It is the intent of the 

CAC to retain flexibility in the conduct of its affairs. 

 



 

Page 2 of 10 
 

 

Article III. Organization 
 
Section 1. Community Advisory Council Membership 
The CAC shall consist of eleven (11) members. Each supervisor shall appoint two 

(2) CAC Members and the IOLERO director shall appoint one (1) Member-at-Large.  

 

A. Terms 
All appointments shall be for two years. There is no limit to the number of 

terms for which a CAC Member may be reappointed. 

 

B. Composition 
The CAC shall reflect and represent the diversity and demographics of the 
County by way of, including but not limited to, racial, ethnic, cultural, gender, 
socio-economic, and geographic diversity; and who are representative of the 
community and of community stakeholders of the law enforcement oversight 
process, and who reside within the County of Sonoma.   
 

C. Qualifications 

Members of the CAC must not have been employed by any law enforcement 
agency for three years prior to appointment. Members should have a demonstrated 
history of involvement in and engagement with community organizations that work 
in one or more of the following areas:  

i. Serving or empowering disadvantaged communities;  
ii. Protecting and defending the constitutional rights of individuals; 
iii. Issues concerning the effectiveness or fairness of the criminal justice 

system; 
iv. Serving or empowering members of communities that experience 

behavioral or mental health challenges; and/or  
v. Spiritual, faith or religious institutions. 

Members of the CAC should have a demonstrated ability to engage in mature, 
objective decision making. CAC Members should have a demonstrated 
commitment to transparency and objective decision making and should have a 
demonstrated commitment to and support for civilian oversight of law enforcement. 
Members of the CAC should also have residency within the County of Sonoma and 
must be members of the National Association for Civilian Oversight of Law 
Enforcement (NACOLE).  

 

D. Compensation 
Members of the CAC shall serve without compensation but may, with prior 
approval, be reimbursed for authorized, reasonable, and necessary expenses 
incurred in the performance of their official duties, should funding become 
available for this purpose. 

 

E. Resignation 
The resignation of a CAC Member shall be in writing to the appointing Supervisor 



 

Page 3 of 10 
 

(if applicable) the IOLERO Director, the Chair of the CAC, and staff.  Resignation 

letters shall be submitted at least three (3) months before the effective date of 

resignation, to the extent possible. 

 

F. Removal from The Community Advisory Council 
CAC Members serve at the pleasure of the appointing Supervisor. The CAC 

Member-at-Large serves at the pleasure of the IOLERO Director. The failure of 

any CAC Member to fulfill the duties designated herein will be brought to the 

attention of the appointing Supervisor and the Director by a CAC Officer and/or 

IOLERO staff. 

 
 

Section 2. Community Advisory Council Member Role and Duties 
CAC Members are expected to fulfill the role and carry out the duties as described below: 

 
A. Attendance at Regular (Monthly) Community Advisory Council  Meetings 

Attendance at Regular CAC meetings is essential, since a Quorum (as defined in 

Article IV, Section 4) is required to conduct CAC business. Therefore, CAC 

Members are expected to attend at least three-fourths (3/4) of the Regular CAC 

meetings held during any twelve (12) month period. 

 

The CAC members must attend meetings in person or as allowed by the State of 

California. 

 

Participation in meetings not in person shall constitute attendance and presence 

as though in person at the meeting. Quorum shall be established by either roll call 

or identification of individual members of the CAC. These meetings shall only be 

held as authorized by the State of California.  

 

CAC Members absent from a Regular CAC meeting on official CAC business 

(official CAC business must be approved by Officers) will not be counted as 

having missed a meeting. Instead, any absence due to representation of the CAC 

at another event that is approved by all Officers is of the same value as being 

present at a Regular CAC meeting. 

 

However, if it is necessary to miss a Regular CAC meeting, CAC Members are 

expected to give an Officer and/or staff prior notice. 

 
Staff will provide a report on attendance at Regular CAC meetings. 
The three-fourths requirement is deemed to be met by attending nine (9) of twelve 

consecutive Regular CAC meetings. 

 



 

Page 4 of 10 
 

B. Conduct 

 

1. Standards and Guidelines 
At CAC meetings, events and activities, as well as when representing the CAC 

in any official capacity, CAC Members shall adhere to generally acceptable 

standards of business conduct and to any specific guidelines/protocols 

adopted by the CAC. They shall not engage in: 

 

a. habitual conduct which disrupts the CAC and/or interferes with 
the conduct of CAC business, or 

b. conduct which would have a negative impact on the integrity of and/or 
the community’s confidence in the CAC. 

 
2. Ethics 

The members of the CAC shall adhere to the most current NACOLE Code of 

Ethics standards in the conduct of their duties. Using those standards, CAC 

Members shall: 

 

a. comply with both the letter and the spirit of the laws and policies affecting 
operations of the CAC; 

b. be independent, impartial and fair in their judgment and actions; and 
c. conduct public deliberations and processes openly, unless 

legally confidential, and in an atmosphere of mutual respect 
and civility. 

 
3. Conflicts of Interest 

In order to assure their independence and impartiality on behalf of the public 

good, CAC Members are prohibited from using their official positions to 

influence decisions in which they have a financial interest, or an organizational 

responsibility, or where they have a personal relationship that would constitute 

a conflict of interest. 

 

CAC Members should avoid taking any action that could be construed as, or 

create the appearance of, using public office for personal gain, including use 

of the title of CAC Member and/or CAC stationery or other County resources 

to obtain or promote personal interests and/or business through any means, 

including personal social media accounts. 

 

4. Representation of the CAC 
CAC Members are encouraged to represent themselves as individual CAC 

Members in community advocacy and activities related to the adopted 

positions and Work Plan of the CAC, and are not to work to undermine the 

adopted positions and Work Plan of the CAC while serving as Members. 

However, they are not authorized to represent, speak or act on behalf of the 



 

Page 5 of 10 
 

CAC as a whole through any means, including through personal social media 

accounts unless so authorized by the CAC. Members of the CAC should add 

an opinion disclaimer to their personal accounts in order to establish 

clarification that opinions shared on social media are not representative of the 

CAC.  

 

C. Communication with Appointing Supervisor 
Each CAC Member acts as a liaison between the CAC and his/her appointing 
Supervisor, and thus is expected to communicate regularly with his/her appointing 
Supervisor about the CAC’s activities. 

 
D. Contribution to the Work of the Council 

In addition to the other responsibilities stated in this Section, each CAC Member is 
expected to support the CAC’s goals and activities by serving as an Officer, Liaison 
and/or as Chair of a committee, or by serving as an active member of an Ad Hoc 
or a Standing Committee. 

 

E. Leaves of Absence 
If a Member is unable to fulfill the designated duties due to unusual circumstances, 

s/he can request a leave of absence from the CAC. Leaves of absence are granted 

at the recommendation of the Chair and with approval of the appointing Supervisor 

(or the IOLERO Director for Member-at-Large) and shall not exceed two (2) months. 

 
 

Section 3. Governance 
 

A. Officers 
The Officers of the CAC shall be a Chair and a Vice-Chair. The duties of these 

Officers shall be those which generally apply to such officers, stated herein, 

and/or designated by the CAC. 

 

B. Term 
The term of Officers and appointments shall be for one (1) year from the date of 

election through the date of the next election. 

 

C. Qualifications for Officers 
 

1. Chair 
To serve as the Chair, a Member shall: 

 
a. have attended at least four (4) CAC meetings within six (6) months 

prior to nomination. 
b. be an able and willing communicator. 
c. express the intention to attend and lead at least ten (10) of the 

Regular CAC meetings during the one-year term. 
 



 

Page 6 of 10 
 

2. Vice-Chair 
To serve as the Vice-Chair, a Member shall: 

 
a. have attended at least four (4) CAC meetings within six (6) months 

prior to nomination. 
b. be an able and willing communicator. 
c. have expressed a willingness to support the Chair and to fulfill the 

other duties assigned. 
 

D. Powers and Duties of Officers 
 

1. Chair 
The duties of the Chair are listed below. 

 
a. Duties for Community Advisory Council Meetings.  

At CAC  meetings, the Chair shall: 
1. preside over CAC meetings, maintain orderly procedure in 

accordance with these Bylaws, and decide questions of 
procedure subject to the full CAC. 

2. develop the agenda for CAC meetings with the assistance of 
other CAC Members, Officers and staff. 

3. be allowed to participate in discussion relating to any matter 
s/he deems appropriate. 

4. recognize any member of the CAC who desires to speak. 
5. set and adhere to time-limits for any member of the public who 

desires to address the CAC, consistent with the requirements of 
the Brown Act. 

6. rule on all procedural matters or questions not specifically 
addressed in these Bylaws, subject to the approval of the full 
CAC. 

7. work with Officers and Staff to produce minutes of the meetings. 
 

b. Duties Related to Community Advisory Council Operations.  
The Chair shall: 

1. serve as a primary liaison to the IOLERO Director. 
2. serve as an ex-officio member and remain cognizant of 

the activities and progress of all committees, if any. 
3. participate, together with the other Officers and Staff, in creating 

and monitoring the progress of the CAC’s work activities to 
ensure that CAC goals are met and periodically make a progress 
report to the CAC. 

4. serve as a resource to Members in their efforts to contribute to 
the CAC’s work and, when required, collaborate with other 
Officers and staff to resolve issues related to a CAC Member’s 
fulfillment of designated duties. 

5. represent and speak on behalf of the CAC at public meetings 
(e.g. Board of Supervisors meeting) on matters relating to the 
CAC. 



 

Page 7 of 10 
 

6. Create and sustain amicable and effective relationships 
with County and community leaders/organizations. 

7. Advocate for CAC initiatives throughout the County 
approval process.  

8. Remain cognizant of Brown Act requirements, both during 
meetings and throughout the month; monitor and 
intervene as needed. 

 
2. Vice-Chair 

The Vice-Chair shall: 
a. preside over CAC meetings in the Chair’s absence. 
b. assist the Chair in developing the agenda for CAC meetings. 
c. participate, together with the other Officers and staff, in 

monitoring the progress of the CAC work activities to ensure that 
CAC goals are met. 

d. serve as a resource to CAC Members in their efforts to contribute 
to the CAC’s work and, when required, collaborate with other 
Officers and staff to resolve issues related to a CAC Member’s 
fulfillment of designated duties. 

e. fill a vacancy occurring in the office of Chair for the unexpired term. 
 

E. Nominations and Elections 
At a Regular CAC meeting prior to the end of the term for current Officers, the 

Chair will read the duties and qualifications of Chair from the By-Laws, and 

nominations will be taken from the floor. Any qualified CAC Member is eligible to 

be nominated (or to nominate him/herself).  

 

The same process shall then be followed for taking Vice-Chair nominations.  

Elections can be held following the close of nominations, and Officers shall be 

elected by a simple majority vote. If a CAC Member is unable to attend the CAC 

meeting, s/he can be nominated and elected, based on prior verbal/written 

statement that if elected s/he will accept the position and fulfill the duties of the 

office. 

 

F. Vacancies of Elected Office 
 

1. Chair 
Should the office of Chair become vacant during term, the Vice-Chair 

shall assume the office of Chair for the remainder of the term. 

 

2. Vice-Chair 
Should the office of Vice-Chair become vacant during a term, the CAC shall 

elect a new Vice-chair at its next regular meeting after the vacancy is 

announced at a public meeting of the CAC. 

 



 

Page 8 of 10 
 

3. Removal From Office  

An Officer may be removed from office prior to the expiration of his/her term 

by vote of the CAC. 

 

Section 4. Staff 
The CAC shall receive support from management and clerical staff as assigned by the 
Director of IOLERO. 

 
 

Article IV. Meetings 

Section 1. Regular Community Advisory Council Meetings 
 

A. Schedule 

Regular CAC meetings shall be scheduled for the first (1st) Wednesday of each 
month at 6:00 PM, except as noted in Article IV, Section 1 (E). The time and date 
will only be changed by the CAC for the purpose of facilitating the conduct of CAC 
business, and if changed, the date and time will be announced to the CAC and 
the public with at least thirty (30) days’ notice. 
 
Should the meeting fall on a holiday or County closure day, the meeting will be 
held on the Wednesday of the following week (subject to availability), unless the 
CAC makes other arrangements. This meeting shall be announced with at least 
thirty (30) days prior notice, when possible. 

 

B. Location 
Staff will be responsible for securing a facility deemed appropriate for the Regular 

CAC meetings. Once selected, the location will be announced to the CAC and the 

public. 

 

C. Ralph M. Brown Act 
All Regular CAC meetings shall be called, noticed, held and conducted in 
accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Act, hereafter referred to as the "Brown Act." 
Pursuant with Section 54954.3 of the Brown Act, the agendas for Regular CAC 
meetings shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the 
CAC on items of interest to the public that are within the subject matter jurisdiction 
of the CAC . 

 

D. Agenda 
 

1. Submission of Items 
Staff or any CAC Member may place an item on the agenda, subject to time 
limitations on CAC meetings and to the discretion of the Chair. Proposed 
agenda items should be submitted directly to staff of the Independent Office 
of Law Enforcement Review and Outreach at least two weeks prior to the 
CAC meeting. Any member of the public may suggest an item for 
consideration on a future agenda during public comment at CAC meetings. 

 



 

Page 9 of 10 
 

2. Preparation and Content 
The Chair will work through staff with Officers, and other CAC Members to 

prepare the agenda for CAC meetings. The agenda will contain a brief 

general description of each item of business to be transacted or discussed 

at the meeting. 

 

3. Distribution and Posting 
At least seventy-two (72) hours before the Regular CAC meeting, the 
agenda will be distributed to the CAC Members and posted at a location 
that is freely accessible to the public, as well as on the internet site for 
IOLERO. 

 

4. Additions after Posting 
No action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda, 

except as permitted by Government Code 54954.2 of the Brown Act. 

 

E. Cancellation of a Regular Meeting 
A Regular CAC meeting can be cancelled by the vote or concensus of the CAC or 

the agreement of the two (2) Officers. 

 
 

Section 2. Special Community Advisory Council Meetings 
 

A. Call for Special Meeting 
Special meetings may be called by the two Officers or the written agreement of 

the majority of active CAC Members (i.e. CAC Members not on a Leave of 

Absence, as defined in Article III, Section 2(E)). 

 

B. Purpose 
The purpose of the special meeting shall be stated in the call. 

 
C. Notice 

Except in cases of emergency, at least twenty-four (24) hour notice, and such other 

notice as directed by the Brown Act, shall be given prior to any special meeting. 

 

D. Agenda 
The agenda for a special meeting shall be limited to the specific issue(s) for which 
the meeting was called and will contain a brief general description of the business 
to be transacted and/or discussed at the meeting. 

 

E. Conduct of Meeting 
The meeting shall be held and conducted in accordance with the Brown Act. 

 
 

Section 3. Rules of Order 
Meetings of the CAC  shall be conducted in accordance with fair and orderly procedures 



 

Page 10 of 10 
 

such as those described in Robert’s Rules of Order and/or Roberta’s Rules of Order, 

latest edition, except as required by state law or as provided by these Bylaws. 

 

Section 4. Quorum 
A majority of the duly appointed active CAC Members shall constitute a Quorum. CAC 

action may be taken only by a majority vote of the active Members. 

 

Article V: Structure for Supporting CAC’s Goals and 
Activities 
 
Section 1. Liaisons 
Liaisons act as intermediaries with other organizations/agencies. Liaisons are responsible 
for determining how to carry out their assignment. They may solicit other CAC Members 
(totaling less than a quorum) and/or community members, and/or staff to assist them as 
necessary. 
 
Liaisons are responsible for reporting to the CAC on their activities and their progress 
toward meeting the goals/objectives established. 

 

Section 2. Ad Hoc Committees 
Ad Hoc Committees may be established to carry out a specific objective or activity within 
a stated time frame.  They may solicit other CAC Members (totaling less than a quorum) 
and/or community members, and/or staff to assist them as necessary.  Ad hoc committee 
members must appoint a Chair at the outset of the Committee’s creation. 
 

 
Ad Hoc Committees are disbanded once the specific objective has been accomplished. 

 

Section 3. Standing Committees 
Standing Committees may be established to assume responsibility for the CAC’s ongoing 
work in a general topic area. Standing Committees are created by the CAC and remain 
active over an extended period. Regular meetings will be held according to regular dates, 
times and locations. Standing Committee meetings are subject to the requirements of the 
Brown Act. 

 
 

Article VI: Amendments. 
 

Proposed amendments to these Bylaws shall be submitted to the Officers and then 

brought to the CAC for discussion and approval. 


	3.5.25AgendaDraft
	8. OPEN TIME FOR PUBLIC COMMENT
	This section is intended for non-action items from this agenda and for items not appearing on the agenda that are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the CAC. Please state your name and who you represent, if applicable. Comments will be limited ...
	12.  ADJOURNMENT
	The next regular meeting of the Community Advisory Council will be Wednesday April 2, 2025 at 6:00pm.
	The in-person/hybrid meeting will be at the following location:

	1.8.25.Minutesdraft
	6. BUSINESS ITEMS:

	RIPA Report (final_01.21.25)
	CAC Bylaws_Draft_Revision_Jan_22_2025_Redlined
	CAC Bylaws_Draft_Revision_Jan_22_2025_Clean



